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1. Name of Property
historic name  West 2lst Street Historic District

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number 125-262 West 2lst Street, 2014-2125 Sassafras Street N/ A[not for publication

city, town Erie N La] vicinity

state Pennsvlvania code PA county  FErie code 049 Zipcode 16502

3. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
private : ("] building(s} Contriguting Noncontributing
[ publicocal (] district 5 0 buiidings
L__—I public-State D site sites
D public-Federal D structure structures
[ object objects
_35 0 Toat
Name of related multiple property listing: ’ Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed in the National Register ___ O

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
Dnominalion t lrequest for determination of sligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties i the

National Register of Historic_Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set torth in 36 CFR Panrt 50
In my opinion, the property L Imeets EFjdoes not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sneet.

Signature of certifying official Data
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State or Federal agency and bureau

 In my opinion, the property L_!meets L.__fdoes not meet the National Register critaria. D See continuation sheet.

| Signature of commenting or other official Cale

i State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I. hereby, certify that this property is:

__entered in the National Register.
j See continuation sheet.

:determined eligibte for the Naticnal
Register. [: See continuation sheet.

i determined not eligible for the
National Register.

—

. removed from the National Register. -

: other. {axplain:}

Signature of the <eeper Date ot Ao .



o

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter categories from insiructions)

Domestic/Single Dwellings Domestic/Single Dwellings

7. Description

Architectural Classification . Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)

foundation Stone
Colonial Revival walls Brick
Queen Anne Wood
Iralianate root Asphalt
other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The West 21lst Street Historic District of the City of Erie is located in an
area with a concentration of late 19th and early 20th. Century residences which
exhibit a variety of architectural styles including Italianate, "Queen Anne,
Romanesque, Victorian and Colonial Revival. The houses range in scale according to
the lot size. The homes were erected between 1837 and 1939 and are generally of
frame or brick construction. The district includes thirty five buildings within two
blocks along West 2lst Street between Peach and Myrile Streets,

The residential buildings in the 100 block of West 2lst Street between Peach
and Sassafras Street differ in style, scale and materials from those buildings In
the 200 block between Sassafras and Myrtle Streets. There are fewer homes on larger
lots in the 100 block than in the.- 200 block. Although the number of homes is a
direct result of the larger lots, it should be noted that a school and a church
consume substantial lots within this block. The residential buildings in the 100
bleock were built between 1850 and 1900 and are all of brick construction,

The five contributing residences in the 100 block of West 2lst 3treet represent
five different architectural styles. The Italianare Style is represented by :ihe
Heman Janes resident at 125 West 21lst Street, conscructed in 1857 and the oldast
building in the districet, The home is set back 25 feet from the street and 13
centered on a large lot. The building has been remodeled with the addition of ne
room and alterations to the once open veranda. The home, however, retains origina:
fearures such as the bracketed cornice, Vic:torian tracery at the entrance, and an
octagonal cupola with a domical roof which is unique to the districe.

The Colonial Revival Style is represcnzad by 139 West 21lst Street. SO
centered on a large lot, this residence is constructed of buff colored bricx znd
features a massive porch with Corinthian columns and a bracketed dentiled cornii-.

Three pedimented dormers adorn the roof which s accented with a cornice mactcnins
that of the porch roof. A three car garag. was constructed onto the rear nd "o
building to accommodate its present use .5 : Zuneral home, The additicn @3
constructed of matching brick and does not doiract ‘rom the outstanding character =

the building.

The residences at 120, 130 and 151 Wes: Z2lst Streer represent the Chaz=:z.,
Queen Anne and Victorian Styles respectivel:, The two former residences reta.:
high degree of integrity without alterations. The home at 131 West 2lst Stree:t 4

[X] See continuation sheet
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been altered with the construction of a two story addition across the facade. The
original Victorian detailing survives along the east and west elevations which remain

without alteration. L

The three additional buildings within the 100 block include the 1893 Simpson
Methodist Church, 1930 brick rectory adjacent to the church, and the 1910 school
which has been remodeled for use as a health care facility but still remains a

contributing building.

The residential buildings in the 200 block of West 21st Street were constructed
between 1870 and 1930 and are generally of frame construction in the Vistorian Style
and are of a smaller scale than those in the 100 block of West 21st Street. However,
two brick homes and one stone home within this block compare in size to those in the

200 block.

There are twenty-three contributing buildings in the 200 block. The majority
of the contributing -buildings are two to two-and-a-half story fram homes featuring
Victorian detailing such as 214 and 257 West 21st Street. Gable roofs, bracketed
cornices, decorative window surrounds, proches, and clapboard siding are the common

features.

remodz?fng?ome;ypsgalihe ??rth side of tpe street suffer from some degree of
aluminum windome havey, tle clapboard siding has been covered with aluminum, and
were removed. or th replaced the original wood sashes, or the cornice brackecs
have cxpers + : = pOfches altered. Homes such as 246 and 250 West 2lst Stree:

perienced a combination of these alterations, and like their counterpar:s,

they contribute to th
e district ; i ;
original scale. bec?use they retain their general appearance and

There are three prominent residences which differ in scale, material and style
from the Victorian homes. First is the Henry Shenk home at 209 West 21lst Street. -
is a large stone Romanesque Style building situated on a large gently sloping lot.
Second is the substantial Colonial Revival brick home at 231 West 21lst Street whicn
occupies a large lot. It features an elaborate porch, decorative window surrouncs.
and a bracketed cornice. Finally, a massive Colonjal Revival brick residence witn :
large porch, shuttered windows and a clay tile roof survives a 241 West 21st Stree:.
These homes retain excellent detailing and a high degree of integrity.

Three other buildings within the 200 block are c. 1920 brick buildings of two-
and-a-half stories. One of these was constructed as a single family residence ana
others were constructed as apartments. The building at 230 West Z21st Street repres=--
the former, and those at 226 and 230 West 21st Street represent the latter.

-~

Angther residence in the 200 block is located at 223 West 21st Street. This 1is
a c. 1920, two story, brick, Tudor Revival Buncalow with an elaborate clay tile roo-
The home survives in excellent condition without any alterations. ~°
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The homes along Sassafras Street represent four different architectural styles.
The building at 2022 Sassafras is 'a Victorian brick residence. The buildings at
2124 and 2125 Sassafras are similar to those within the 100 block of West 2lst

Street. 2124 Sassafras is a substantial Colonial Revival brick residence. These
are all contributing buildings.

The home at 2014 Sassafras constructed in c. 1910 and is similar to buildings of
the same vintage in the 2-0 block of West 21st Street.

Many of the residential buildings within the district have been converted to multi-
family use but, in most cases, the homes retain their original scale, materials and
detailing. This small, concentrated district provides a good cross-section of housing

styles which were popular during the period between 1850 and
1939.



8. Statement of Significance
Centitying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
[ nationally "] statewide [X]tocaily

Applicable National Register Criteria [_]A xe Xc [Clo

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [1B e o e OF [la

Areas of Significance (enter categorias from instructions) Period of Significance Si Inificant Dates
Architecture 1357 - 1939 /A
commerce ¥

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Significant Persan Architect/Buitder
Shenk, Hepry, Heman, Jares Various -

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noteg above.

The West 21st Street Historic District is an architecturally and historically
significant area of south Erie, The district is architecturally significant because
of its concentration of mid-nineteenth to early twentieth century buildings retaining
high integrity. The homes within the district are representative of the type of nomes~
constructed by the middle and upper classes in Erie between 1857 and 1939: The distric:
is also historically significant because it was home to several of Erie's most prominer:
businessmen and citizens such a Heman Janes, co-founder of Standard 0i1 Company, and =g~
Shenk, contractor of many important buildings in Western Pennsylvania. -

South Erie began as a small settlement at Peach and 26th Streets in 1812. The

sectlement was known as '"Federal Hill" or "Eagle Village" and was located wn
Millereek Township one mile south of the town of Erie. The intersections of <ur
major roadways, the yjaterford Turnpike (Peach Street) and Ridge Road (26th Stres::.
was the impetus for settlement and reason for continued growth of Federal Hill o=~
the vicinity.

Much of the real estate between the town of Erie and Federal Hill was purchases
between 1830 and 1840 due to planned improvments to the harbor, the surveying of t-=
Beaver and Lake Erie Canal between Pittsburgh and Erie, and the organization of a
railroad between Erie and Sunbury. Combined, these events alluded that Erie was
destined to be a great and prosperous business center. Therefore, large tracts ¢+
7and in South Erie were purchased by land speculators, prominent Erie citizens, z~:
businessmen such as General Charles M. Reed ang -eman Janes.

[§Y

The growth of trade and commerce along -~= .aterford Turnpike (Peach Street
attracted commerce and residents to South Ir°:. Tne area was initially settled z.
Scotch-Irish immigrants, but who were pro regiively replaced by industrious Penr:
Germans. The business district of South tri=z was concentrated between 13th and -7
Streets along Peach Street and residential ne::nborncods began to infill the adiz.
blocks. Recognizing South Erie's significancs. ;ommercially and residentially, :

1

influential citizens organized South Eric intoc its Cwn borough in 1866. One of =7=
infrential citizens was Heman Janes.

] See continuation sheet
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Heman Janes was interested in the success and residential growth of South Erie
because of his real estate holdings which included the entire block along West 21st
Street (then Simpson Street), between Sassafras and Myrtle Streets, known as the
"Janes Subdivision.” Mr. Janes, who amassed his early fortunes in lumber shipping
and real estate, was most successful in the business of o0il refining. He was an
early advocate for shipping oil through pipelines and became a co-founder, and
later, the head of Standard 0il Company. In 1857, while other wealthy entrepreneurs
were constructing their large homes along West Sixth and Seventh Street in Erie, Mr.
Janes constructed a substantial Italian Villa Style residence at 125 West 21st
Street in the McNair Subdivision, the block adjacent to his subdivision., Mr, Janes
resided in this house until his death in 1905 when the home was sold to Wilbur
Graham, a prominent Erie builder who converted the home into two flats.

Although residential construction at mid-century was dominated by the
construction of modest working class homes, it was the homes of the wealthy, like
Heman Janes, which attracted the most attention. Mr. Janes attracted further
attention by assisting in locating South Erie's first Methodist Church on West 21lst
Street. In 1859, Mr. Janes secured the lot at the corner of West 2lst and Sassafras
Streets for the construction of the Simpson Methodist Episcopal Church. The
original building serviced South Erie until 1893, when it was replaced with the
present day brick and stone building. His home and the church may have been Mr.
Janes strategy in attracting residents to his subdivision.

A residential building boom occurred in Erie between 1860 and 1900 due to the
substantial increase in industry which caused the city's population to triple. The
opening of the Erie City Passenger Railway along Peach Street to 26th Street in
1870, opened South Erie to much of this construction. Three years later, South Erie
was annexed as the Sixth Ward of Erie,.

The population of the Sixth Ward itself increased from 1500 to 5200 between
1875 and 1900. The majority of the Sixth Ward residents worked for the railroad at
Union Station on 1l4th Street, and others worked in the neighboring brick yards or
iron foundaries. The homes of the working class were simple frame detached houses
suited to the smaller lots like those found to the north of West 2lst Street on West
22nd Street. However, the larger lots found in the Janes and McNair Subdivisions,
which would accommodate a more substantial home, were desired by Erie's wealthier
entrepreneurs and businessmen. Therefore, like the properties along Sixth, Seventh,
Eighth, Ninth and Tenth Streets, West 21st Street became a desirable location for
those who could afford it,

One individual who could afford it was Dr. B. A. Smith. In 1872, he
constructed his residence in the Janes Subdivision at 246 West 21lst Street. A year
later, this prominent druggist and manufacturer of patent medicines, opened a
pharmacy which he operated until his death around 1936. In 1882, Emil Streuber
constructed his large Italianate home at 231-233 West 21st Street in the Janes
Subdivision, Streuber was a principal in E. Streuber and Brothers, an extensive

Continued. ..
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tannery which began operations in 1861 under the direction of John Streuber, Emil's
father. Upon his father's death in 1872, Emil was put in charge of the operations.
Under his direction, the. business became the leading tannery in the city.

Later that year, a substantial Romanesque Revival stone residence was constructed at
the southwest corner of Sassafras and West 2lst Streets. It was built by Mr. Henry

Shenk, a prominent contractor in Western Pennsylvania. Mr. Shenk began his
construction business in Erie in 1858. His company was known for its attention to
detail and for manufacturing all interior trim in its own shop. Henry Shenk was

responsible for the construction of the Y.M.C.A. Building (National Register 1986)
and the Carnegie Library (National Register 1977), Pittsburgh. In Erie, a few of
his contributions include the Erie Trust Company (G. Daniel Baldwin Building), the
Government Building, and the Park Opera House. Although other Romanesque homes were
constructed in Erie, such as the one at 356 West Sixth Street, Mr. Shenk's residence
iS 'an outstanding example and execution of the Romanesque Revival Style.

Residences were also being constructed in the McNair Subdivision to the east.
Michael Liebel, Sr. constructed a residence for him and his son at 139 West 21st
Street in 1882, The Liebels operated a wholesale liquor business until the 1890's
when they became partners in the West End Brewing Company. During his.residency at
139 West 2lst Street, Michael, Jr. held the office of Mayor of Erie between the
years 1905 and 1911, T. M. Nagle also constructed a residence in the McNair
Subdivision at 130 West 21lst Street around 1890. Mr. Nagle was the principal in the
Nagle Engine and Boiler Works which he began in 1883, Mr. Nagle wmanufactured
portable, stationary and agricultural steam engines that were shipped to all parcs
of the country including Maine, Florida, Texas and Colorado.

The neighborhoods of the Sixth Ward reached their capacity by the turn-of-the-
century. The lots along the north side of West 21st Street in the Janes Subdivision
accommodated- several more moderate homes for individuals of the middle-income
working class. A new school building was constructed in 1910 at the northeast
corner of West 2lst Street and Sassafras Streets to replace Public School No. 7
which was destroyed by fire several years earlier. Only a few new buildings were
constructed along West 2lst Street up to 1939.

The Great. Depression and periods of modest growth, stagnation and decline in
the region since the 1930's brought little new construction to the area. The people
who could afford it moved to the seclusion of the suburbs leaving the city
neighborhoods to these who could not afford to move. Many city homes have been
converted to apartments and have suffered from some degree of remodeling.
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The homes in the West 21st Street Historic District have
architectural significance because they are a well preserved
concentration of the type of homes erected by the middle and upper
classes on the south side of Erie between the mid-nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. Sizeable homes designed in period high styles were
built by the middle and upper classes during the later nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries in various neighborhoods of south Erie,
including the area immediately south of the rominated district. These
homes originally were similar to the nominated buildings in their size,
styling and overall appearance. However, since their construction these
other residences generally have been much maore altered by remodelling
than have the homes in the West 21st Street Historic District. Thus the
nominated district is the best preserved concentration of the middle and
upper class housing that was constructed during the later nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries on the south side of Erie.
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Previous documentation on file (NPS):

D preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) Primary location of additionai data:
has been requested m State historic preservation office
() previously listed in the National Register (] Other State agency
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Ddesignated a National Historic Landmark D Local government
[Jrecorded by Historic American Buildings (] University
Survey # _lother
[:] recorded by Historic American Engineering Specity repository:
Record #

10._Geographical Data
Acreage of property __12 .

UTM Retlerences

AlL7] 5751830 461621650 BlLz! 157.,6/1.:5.0] [4.6i6:218:2 ¢
Zone  Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing
cl/y 7615046627040 pll.7! 517,518,8,0} [4,616.2!5,2 0

[ See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the West 2lst Street Historic District are shown as a solid black L.-=
on the accompanying map entitled "West 2lst Street Historic Districc."

: See continuation sheet

Boundary Justitication

The boundaries of the West 2lst Street Hiszar:ic Dis:trict include those buildi-
contributing to the historical and architec:t.ral nificance of South Erie., 7
district boundaries include those residentia. “u:.!dings within the two blocks al-=n
West 21st Street between Peach and Myrtle Struacs.

_%_See continuation sheet
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The boundaries exclude those properties to the north which are of a smaller scale
and of low integrity. _The west and south boundary exclude those properties of
similar vintage and scale, but which have been severely remodeled and retain little
original detailing. The eastern boundary of the district excludes those commercial
properties along Peach Street.
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